## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL RAY LOPEZ,	Description   Electronically Filed   Oct 26 2021 11:00 a.m. Elizabeth A. Brown   Clerk of Supreme Court
Appellant,	) Case No. 83394
VS.	) )
THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)
Respondent.	) ) )

Appeal from Judgment of Conviction Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada The Honorable Kathleen Sigurdson

# **APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF**

MARC PICKER
Washoe County Alternate Public Defender
Washoe County District Attorney

IAN SILVERBERG
JENNIFER NOBLE
1 South Sierra St., 4<sup>th</sup> Floor
RENO, NEVADA 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

CHRISTOPHER HICKS
Washoe County District Attorney

Attorney

Attorney

Attorney

# **

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

The district court abused its discretion in denying the Appellant a suspended sentence after releasing him to in-patient treatment which he was completing successfully.

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant MICHAEL RAY LOPEZ (hereinafter "Mr. LOPEZ) was charged in this case with Robbery with the Use of a Deadly Weapon, Attempted Robbery with the Use of a Deadly Weapon and Assault with the Use of a Deadly Weapon. JA 1-3 (Justice Court Complaint, 07/09/2020)

Pursuant to negotiations, Mr. LOPEZ agreed to plead guilty to one count of Assault with a Deadly Weapon, with both sides free to argue for an appropriate sentence. JA4-7; 8-14

At his initial sentencing Mr. LOPEZ, through counsel, requested a release on his own recognizance so he could participate in treatment. The Court granted an OR release with transportation to be provided by the Inmate Assistance Program to the Salvation Army. JA32-35

Mr. LOPEZ then had a status hearing on February 26, 2021, in which he was again encouraged by the court to continue with his compliance and participation in the program. **JA39-44** 

"So I want you to have a very good program and use it to your benefit. It's a very stringent program I understand, but this is a great opportunity for you to kind of get things back on track." JA42; lines 1-6

Between this status hearing and the next, Mr. LOPEZ left the Salvation Army after suffering a mental health episode. He immediately checked in with pretrial services and was placed at Victory Outreach for continued treatment, where he appeared via Zoom for another status hearing. At that hearing Mr. LOPEZ was encouraged to continue to do well. JA45-53

"Mr. Lopez, I'm very proud of you. It sounds like you are doing a good job even though you are going through some rough times, so I am going to allow you to stay out, but I do want you to stay at the Victory Outreach Program. Okay. That's very important. If that changes, then you and I change, okay?

THE DEFENDANT: Absolutely." JA51, lines 22-25; JA52, lines 1-3

Another status hearing was held on May 15, 2021, at which time, although Mr. Lopez was not present at the hearing, it was reported through a representative of pre-trial services that Mr. Lopez was compliant with the terms of his release and still at Victory Outreach. Another status hearing was set for June of 2021. **JA54-60** 

At the June 23, 2021 status hearing Mr. Lopez appeared via Zoom and was doing very well in the Victory Outreach program. The Court was pleased.

"And as stated by your attorney, Pretrial Services indicates you're compliant and doing well, so that makes me very happy. When I give people this opportunity, I am taking a risk on you, so I'm so glad that you're taking advantage of this opportunity." **JA64**, lines 11-16

Sentencing was set out for an additional two months and was held on August 16, 2021. Mr. Lopez appeared in person with counsel and a representative from Victory Outreach. Mr. Lopez was still doing great at the program and had taken full advantage of the opportunity he believed the court had afforded him. Counsel again presented argument and revisited the path of Mr. Lopez since being granted an OR release and how far he had come, believing fully at this point that he would receive a suspended sentence.

The Court, however, sent Mr. Lopez to prison and did not grant probation. JA68-76

Counsel for Mr. LOPEZ respectfully expressed some surprise, and the following exchange occurred:

"MR. SILVERBERG: I'm sorry, Your Honor, I'm not one to go back on -- I just thought that given the chance that he had had and how well he has done, I'm just a little bit surprised.

THE COURT: I understand that, Mr. Silverberg, and I recognize that he has done very well. I'm just concerned about him having a history and then continuing to do that. I know it hasn't been a recent history. It is exactly that, history. It's behind him. And so, I mean, I understand what you are saying that I gave him a chance and he did really well with that chance and I appreciate that greatly, sir. So thank you for doing that and not making me embarrassed that I gave you a chance, but I just, I'm concerned about the public safety. That is my number one charge is to keep the community safe as you well know, so that's where I'm coming from.

MR. SILVERBERG: Understood.

THE COURT: Thank you, Mr. Silverberg.

MR. SILVERBERG: Thank you." JA74, lines 5-23

The instant appeal followed.

# V. STATAEMENT OF FACTS

The Information filed against Mr. LOPEZ alleged that on or about July 7, 2020, within the County of Washoe, State of Nevada, Mr. LOPEX willfully and unlawfully took personal property, to wit, various merchandise from the person or in the presence of MICHAEL DENT and/or RICHEL ALCABEDOS, employees of 99 CENTS ONLY STORE located at 580 East Prater Way, Washoe County, Nevada, against their will, and by means of force or violence or fear of immediate or future injury their person, and with the use of a large knife which the said defendant produced and pointed in a threatening manner towards them.

It was further alleged that Mr. LOPEZ, on or about July 7, 2020, attempted to take money from the person or in the presence of PATRICIA GEORGE, an employee of SIERRA SID'S CASINO, located at 200 North McCarran Boulevard, Washoe County, Nevada, against her will, and by means of force or violence or fear of immediate or future injury to her person, and with the use of a large knife which the said defendant produced as he demanded money, and that he placed MARC REDDING in reasonable apprehension of immediate bodily harm at 200 North McCarran Boulevard, Washoe County, Nevada, with the use of, or present ability to use, a deadly weapon, to wit: a large knife in that said defendant did charge at said victim while holding said knife and demanding money. JA1-3

The other facts relevant to this appeal are set for in the statement of the case above.

# VI. <u>SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT</u>

The court abused its discretion in sentencing Mr. LOPEZ to prison and not granting him a suspended sentence.

///

///

///

///

# VII. ARGUMENT

The court erred in not granting Mr. LOPEZ a suspended sentence after releasing him prior to sentencing for treatment and after he was successful in that treatment.

"This court will not disturb a district court's sentencing determination absent an abuse of discretion. See *Parrish v. State*, 116 Nev. 982, 989, 12 P.3d 953, 957 (2000).

The Court, in justifying its decision to not grant a suspended sentence was public safety. While this is certainly a valid consideration generally, in this case the Court gave Mr. LOPEZ the opportunity to show that he was not a public safety threat. The Court as much as said so at the hearing held on June 23, 2021:

"And as stated by your attorney, Pretrial Services indicates you're compliant and doing well, so that makes me very happy. When I give people this opportunity, I am taking a risk on you, so I'm so glad that you're taking advantage of this opportunity." **JA64**, lines 11-16

The Court made clear she was taking a risk by giving Mr. Lopez the opportunity to be supervised in the community. The court at a minimum implied that if Mr. LOPEZ continued to do well and remain in compliance that he would be granted a suspended sentence. Why else would he be let out of custody prior to sentencing to a treatment program?

///

///

To give this chance to a defendant and set out conditions for a defendant to remain out of custody, and for a defendant to fully comply but be sent to prison anyway is clearly an abuse of discretion. There was simply no evidence that Mr. LOPEZ did not fully comply with the conditions of his release pre-sentence, and although it was never explicitly stated, the record supports the conclusion that had he continued to be in compliance as he had, he could expect that he would receive a suspended sentence. It was an abuse of discretion for the Court to do otherwise.

Regarding the applicable legal standard, the Nevada Supreme Court stated the following"

"This court will refrain from interfering with the sentence imposed "[s]o long as the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976).

Although the undersigned has not found a case on point in this jurisdiction, an analogous situation was considered by the Mississippi Supreme Court.

"We do not revoke or disturb the principle that the imposition of sentence is within the sound discretion of the trial court, and that this Court will not reverse the sentence so imposed, if it is within the limits of the statute. *Anderson v. State*, 381 So.2d 1019 (Miss.1980); *Yazzie v. State*, 366 So.2d 240 (Miss.1979); *Ainsworth v. State*, 304 So.2d 656 (Miss.1975); *Clanton v. State*, 279 So.2d 599 (Miss.1973). However, under the peculiar facts of this case, where we do not find error which requires reversal for a new trial, but where the appellant, with the knowledge of the trial court, worked for the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics as an undercover informant, and was promised by the Bureau and district attorney that they would recommend probation, which led appellant to believe he would be placed on probation, we hold justice

requires that the judgment of the lower court sentencing appellant to eight (8) years in the Mississippi State Penitentiary be vacated and that the case be remanded to the lower court, with instructions that appellant be placed on probation under such terms and conditions as the lower court may prescribe." *Boyington v. State*, 389 So. 2d 485, 491 (Miss. 1980)

It is respectfully submitted that the Court in this matter should do the same. Mr. LOPEZ was as much as assured that if he remained in compliance with the terms of his pre-sentence release, he would be placed on probation. In light of the many status hearings and the repeated encouragement by the Court, it is respectfully submitted that it was an abuse of discretion for the Court to not grant Mr. LOPEZ a suspended sentence.

# VIII. CONCLUSION

For the reasons put forth above, Michael Ray Lopez, respectfully requests that this case be remanded for a new sentencing with instructions that he be granted a suspended sentence.