IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

MICHAEL RAY LOPEZ,

No. 83394

Electronically Filed Nov 23 2021 02:03 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF NEVADA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF

MARC PICKER CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS

Washoe County Alternate Washoe County District Attorney

Public Defender

IAN SILVERBERG

Deputy Alternate Public Defender
350 South Center Street, 6th floor

KEVIN NAUGHTON

Appellate Deputy

One South Sierra Street

Reno, Nevada 89501 Reno, Nevada 89501

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

II. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Because this case was resolved via a plea negotiation, the following facts are derived from the Presentence Investigation Report ("PSI"). The Respondent has filed a contemporaneous Motion to Transmit Presentence Investigation Report. Because the PSI is not included in an appendix, citations to the PSI refer to the PSI's own pagination.

On July 7, 2020, Sparks Police Department officers responded to the 99cent store on a report of an armed robbery. PSI p. 6. They learned that Appellant Michael Ray Lopez ("Lopez") had entered the store and filled

both a shopping cart and a hand basket and attempted to leave the store without paying. *Id.* Store employees tried to block Lopez's exit and instructed him to leave the merchandise and leave the store. *Id.* Lopez responded by pulling out a large hunting knife and pointing it at the employees. *Id.* Lopez was allowed to leave the store with the merchandise. *Id.*

Shortly after the incident at the 99cent store, officers responded to another location on a report of a robbery in progress. *Id.* Officers learned that Lopez had entered a casino, approached the cage, and demanded hundreds of dollars and "free play" money. *Id.* When the cashier declined to comply with Lopez's demands, he produced a knife, yelled at her, and then stabbed the counter before walking away. *Id.* Lopez then approached a casino patron and demanded money. *Id.* Lopez charged at the patron with a knife and demanded that he "give me money." *Id.* Officers confronted Lopez who attempted to run away from them. *Id.* Lopez was tased and arrested. *Id.*

III. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

A. Did the district court abuse its discretion by sentencing Lopez to a term of imprisonment rather than probation?

///

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The district court did not abuse its discretion at sentencing.

i. Standard of Review

"A sentencing judge is allowed wide discretion in imposing a sentence; absent an abuse of discretion, the district court's determination will not be disturbed on appeal." Randell v. State, 109 Nev. 5, 8, 846 P.2d 278, 280 (1993). "[A]n abuse of discretion will be found only when the record demonstrates 'prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence." Lloyd v. State, 94 Nev. 167, 170, 576 P.2d 740, 742 (1978) quoting Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976).

ii. Discussion

Lopez does not claim that the district court abused its discretion in the traditional sense, *i.e.*, by relying upon impalpable or highly suspect evidence. Instead, Lopez argues that the court abused its discretion by sentencing him to prison rather than granting him a chance at probation after he had participated in several treatment programs while pending sentencing. Lopez suggests that the court implied that Lopez would be granted probation if he did well in those programs.

The decision to suspend a prison sentence, where not otherwise governed by statute, is a discretionary one. NRS 176A.100(1)(c) ("the court

may suspend the execution of the sentence imposed and grant probation as the court deems advisable."). Lopez was convicted of Robbery and Assault with a Deadly Weapon, neither of which have sentences that must be suspended or shall not be suspended. In other words, the decision whether to suspend Lopez's sentence was within the discretion of the district court.

In passing sentence, the district court noted that it was "concerned about the public safety" and that "my number one charge is to keep the community safe." JA 74. The court also pointed out that Lopez's criminal history was concerning. JA 73-74. At the time of sentencing, Lopez had previously been convicted of 11 misdemeanors. PSI p. 3. Those convictions covered substance abuse related crimes (three convictions for driving under the influence, one for possession of drug paraphernalia), crimes involving stolen property (one conviction for buy/possess/receive stolen property), and crimes involving violation of court orders (one conviction for violating a domestic violence extended protection order and another for contempt of court). The court was concerned that despite this background of criminal activity, Lopez engaged in a series of potentially violent criminal acts involving multiple victims and a knife. JA 73-74.

Lopez claims that because he did well in the programs he attended before sentencing and had not violated any of the terms of his presentencing release, that "for a defendant to fully comply but be sent to prison anyway is clearly an abuse of discretion." Opening Brief p. 7.

However, as Lopez also notes, there were no promises made that he would be entitled to any particular sentence by participating and attending the various programs. *Id.* The terms of Lopez's plea agreement made it clear that the parties would be free to argue for an appropriate sentence with the State recommending that the two sentences run concurrently. JA 10-12. The record lacks any other agreement regarding Lopez's sentence. Lopez may have believed that the district court would grant him probation if he successfully completed a program before sentencing or did not violate the terms of his pre-sentence release, but the record simply does not show that the court ever made such a promise.

Moreover, Lopez had previously entered his plea, wherein he acknowledged the limits of the plea agreement he had reached and the fact that the district court was not bound by the negotiations, before he was released to participate in a program. Lopez does not suggest that his plea was induced by any promises of a suspended sentence, implied or otherwise, and he was not released to participate in a program until his case had already proceeded to the sentencing phase.

Lopez presents the case of <u>Boyington v. State</u>, a 1980 decision from the Mississippi Supreme Court, as persuasive authority in support of his premise that he "was as much as assured that if he remained in compliance with the terms of his pre-sentence release, he would be placed on probation." Opening Brief p. 8 *citing* <u>Boyington v. State</u>, 389 So. 2d 485, 491 (Miss. 1980). <u>Boyington</u> is distinguishable and should not be applied to this case for several reasons.

First, Lopez's contention that he was "as much as assured" that he would be placed on probation is dubious. Lopez fails to identify anywhere in the record where the district court stated that it would grant Lopez probation if he continued to do well while out of custody before sentencing. Instead, Lopez suggests that the court *implied* that Lopez could earn probation by continuing to do well because it applauded him for his compliance with the conditions of his release. Opening Brief p. 6, JA 64. To be clear, after hearing from Lopez about his participation in the Victory Outreach program, the court told Lopez:

Good. Good. And as stated by your attorney, Pretrial Services indicates you're compliant and doing well, so that makes me very happy. When I give people this opportunity, I am taking a risk on you, so I'm so glad that you're taking advantage of this opportunity.

At face value, the district court told Lopez that it was happy that he was taking advantage of the program and that the court was incurring some risk by releasing him into the community. The court did not tell Lopez that if he continued to do well that he could expect any particular outcome at sentencing.

Second, the defendant in <u>Boyington</u> worked as an undercover informant for the Mississippi Bureau of Narcotics "after receiving a promise of lenience and probation" from the law enforcement officer who transported him back to Mississippi from Pennsylvania for prosecution. 389 So. 2d at 487-88. The prosecutor also agreed to recommend probation to the court. <u>Id</u>. There is no similar promise that the State would recommend probation upon fulfillment of any particular terms in this case. The only promise made by the State was to recommend that the sentences run concurrently. JA 10-11.

Finally, the Mississippi Supreme Court noted that at the time of the Boyington decision, Mississippi's trial courts apparently placed an outsized level of importance on the prosecutor's sentencing recommendation.

While, as stated above, the trial judge must control the sentencing phase of a criminal trial, it is common knowledge among courts, prosecutors, attorneys and even laymen, that a prosecutor, who represents the State, is, or should be, fully informed and knowledgeable about the case which he will present to the court, its strength or weakness, and its effect on

similar cases, more so than the trial judge himself. With that in view, trial judges, as a rule, follow the recommendations of the prosecutor, unless they are patently contrary to the interest of the State and the people, or are unfair and unjust. 389 So. 2d at 490-91 (emphasis added).

Here, Lopez cannot and does not suggest that the State's recommendation carried such an outweighed importance in the district court's sentencing decision. Because <u>Boyington</u> was based upon a system in which the prosecutor's recommendation was apparently the final decision except in rare circumstances and because Lopez complains not of prosecutorial misconduct but of a judicial abuse of discretion, it is patently distinguishable from the facts of this case and should not sway this Court's judgment.

V. <u>CONCLUSION</u>

The district court did not abuse its discretion by sentencing Lopez to prison rather than granting him a chance at probation. The district court did not rely on any highly suspect or impalpable evidence in determining the sentence. It also never explicitly promised Lopez that he would be sentenced to probation so long as he complied with the conditions of his pre-sentence release. Any such promise existed only in Lopez's mind and was not binding upon the district court. Because the district court acted

within the bounds of its discretion and in the interests of public safety, Lopez's sentence should be affirmed.

DATED: November 23, 2021.

CHRISTOPHER J. HICKS DISTRICT ATTORNEY

By: Kevin Naughton Appellate Deputy